IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA

No. 19-0008

Jackson County No. ESPR020230

IN THE MATTER OF THE ESTATE OF FRANCIS O. GLASER, Deceased.

STATE OF IOWA ex rel. DEPARTMENT OF REVENUE, Plaintiff,

Vs.

JUDY E. BOWLING, Fiduciary of the Estate of FRANCIS O. GLASER,
Defendant.

JUDY E. BOWLING, Fiduciary of the Estate of FRANCIS O. GLASER, Plaintiff-Appellee,

And

STATE OF IOWA ex rel. DEPARTMENT OF REVENUE, Plaintiff-Appellee,

Vs.

SHERRI M. KINDSFATHER, Claimant-Appellant.

Claimant-Appellant's Brief and Request for Oral Argument

John T. Flynn, AT#00002597 Brubaker, Flynn & Darland, P.C. 201 W. 2nd Street, Suite 400

Davenport, IA 52801 Tel: (563) 322-2681

Fax: (563) 322-4810

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

NATURE OF PROCEEDINGS

On June 28, 2016, Judy E. Bowling, the Administrator of the Frances
O. Glaser Estate, filed her Motion to Set Aside Conveyance and Include
Transferred Property in Estate Inventory. (App. pp.9-25)

On July 18, 2016, Kindsfather filed her Resistance, Response and Resistance to Administrator's Motion to Set Aside Conveyance. (App. pp.26-31)

On March 20, 2017, Kindsfather filed her Supplemental Response and Resistance to Administrator's Motion to Set Aside Conveyance asserting affirmative defenses that under Iowa Code Chapter 684 the decedent's transfer of real estate to Kindsfather was not fraudulent with respect to income tax liens recorded prior to the transfers and that Kindsfather was entitled to her homestead exemption under Iowa Code Section 561.16

against all income tax liens recorded after the transfers of the residence and two adjacent lots to her. (App. pp.32-33)

On April 13, 2017, the Iowa Department of Revenue filed its "Amended Preferred Claim" against the estate for \$115,237.48. (App. p.52)

On January 17, 2018, Kindsfather filed her additional Affirmative Defenses asserting the Administrator's claims that the real estate was fraudulently transferred to her were barred by the application of the Statute of Limitations and adding her husband, Jason Randall, to the homestead exemption defense. (App. pp.34-38)

On April 5, 2018, Kindsfather filed her Motion in Limine and Brief. (App. pp.39-41)

On May 1, 2018, the parties filed their Joint Statement of Undisputed Facts. (App.pp.47-50)

Trial was held on May 15 and 16, 2018 before Judge Sean W. McPartland at the Linn County Courthouse in Cedar Rapids, Iowa.

On June 1, 2018, Kindsfather filed her Closing Argument and Request for Relief. (Not in Appendix)

On June 1, 2018, the Administrator filed her Post-Trial Brief. (Not in Appendix)

On October 31, 2018, the court filed its Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law and Rulings adverse to Kindsfather. (App. pp.51-73)

On November 14, 2018, Kindsfather filed her Rule 1.904(2) Motion and Brief in Support thereof. (App. pp.74-76)

On November 16, 2018, the Administrator filed her Resistance to Rule 1.904(2) Motion. (App. pp.77-79)

On December 4, 2018, the Court filed its Ruling denying Kindsfather's Rule 1.904(2) Motion. (App. pp.80-81)

On December 26, 2018, Kindsfather filed her Notice of Appeal of the Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law and Rulings entered October 31, 2018 adverse to Kindsfather and the Ruling denying Kindsfather's I.R.Civ.P. 1.904(2) Motion filed December 4, 2018. (Notice of Appeal, pp. 1-2; App. pp. 1-2). (App. pp.85-87)

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The Decedent, Frances O. Glaser ["Glaser"], was a resident of 718 Country Club Drive, Maquoketa, Iowa when he died intestate on September 9, 2014 in Maquoketa, Jackson County, Iowa. (Ruling, p. 1). (App. p.51)

Judy E. Bowling, ["Administrator" or "Bowling"] was a resident of Maquoketa, Iowa and was appointed the Administrator of the Frances O. Glaser Estate on April 14, 2015 in case No. ESPR020230 in Jackson County, Iowa. (App. p.51)

Glaser's intestate heirs included his cousins, Judy E. Bowling, Donna Smith, trustee of her Nims Family Trust, and Robert L. Smith, the owner of one-half of the Jackson County farm. (Estate Report and Inventory, filed January 25, 2016, p. 1). (Not in Appendix)

The Respondent, Sherry M. Kindsfather, ["Kindsfather"] is a resident of Maquoketa, Jackson County, Iowa. (Ruling, p. 9). (App. p.59)

Kindsfather met Glaser in 2003 and she had an intimate relationship with him for some time. (Ruling, p. 9) (App. p.59)

Kindsfather's previous husband, Randy Hicks ["Hicks"], filed for divorce in Clinton County on February 10, 2009. (Ruling, p. 10).(App. p.60)

On May 22, 2015, the State of Iowa, Iowa Department of Revenue, filed a Preferred Claim in Probate in the Estate claiming \$106,897.83 in income taxes against Glaser's estate. (App. p.52)

On April 13, 2017, the Iowa Department of Revenue filed an Amended Preferred Claim in Probate claiming \$114,237.48 of income taxes against the Estate. (Ruling, p. 2). (App. p.52)

On June 28, 2016, the Administrator filed a Motion to Set Aside Conveyance and Include Transferred Property in Estate Inventory. The Motion alleged that three lots in the City of Maquoketa, Iowa [lots 11, 12 and 13] were fraudulently transferred by Glaser prior to his death to Kindsfather. (Ruling, p. 2). (App. p.52)

The exhibits admitted at trial relevant to titles of the real estate that Glaser transferred prior to his death, with Kindsfather's objections to the Administrator's Exhibits regarding the transfer of Glaser's one-half ownership interest in a Jackson County farm *noted in italics*, are set forth in the following paragraphs.(Joint Statement, pp 1-4)(App. pp. 47-49)

On May 10, 2007, the Iowa Department of Revenue issued a Notice of Assessment against Glaser and which was recorded on January 7, 2008, as Document No. 08-75. (Joint Statement, p. 1, par. 1). (App. p.47) This lien

had a balance due of \$14,283.85 at the time the Administrator filed her Motion. (Exhibit "B" attached to Motion). (Joint Stipulation of Uncontested Facts #1) (App. p.21) This Tax Lien had a balance due in the amount of \$12,699.84 on September 6, 2011. (Claimant's Exhibit F). (App. p.100)

On January 7, 2008, Glaser executed a Warranty Deed to Kindsfather for Lot 12 of Hillside Acres Addition to the City of Maquoketa, Jackson County, Iowa which was recorded on January 8, 2008, as Instrument No. 08-88. (Exhibit P). (App. p.105)

On February 9, 2009, Kindsfather executed a Warranty Deed back to Glaser for Lot 12 of Hillside Acres Addition to the City of Maquoketa, Jackson County, Iowa which was recorded on February 9, 2009, as Instrument No. 09-450. (Exhibit A). (App. p.88)

On March 1, 2009, Glaser signed a Mortgage to Kindsfather for the alleged amount of \$26,000.00 on Lot 11 in Hillside Acres Addition to the City of Maquoketa, Jackson County, Iowa which was recorded on August 25, 2011, as Document 11-3305. (Exhibit 7). (App. pp.179-185)

On March 15, 2009, Glaser signed a Mortgage to Kindsfather in the alleged amount of \$18,000.00 on Lot 13 in Hillside Acres Addition to the City of Maquoketa, Jackson County, Iowa which was recorded on August

19, 2011, as Document 11-3260. (Administrator's Exhibit 6). (App. pp.173-178)

On or about January 5, 2010, Glaser delivered a Deed without Warranty to Kindsfather to Lot 12 in Hillside Addition, Maquoketa, Iowa. (Exhibit CC). (App. p.113) Kindsfather never recorded this Deed and had the original Deed with her at trial. (Vol II, p. 67)(App. p.281)

On June 3, 2010, Donna Smith, the Trustee of the Nims Family Trust executed a Court Officer Deed to the Jackson County farm one-half to Frances Glaser and one-half to her brother Robert Smith, as tenants in common, which was recorded as Document 10-2153. (Exhibit 12). (App. p.206-208) Kindsfather objected to this document on the grounds that said document is not relevant or material and it is beyond the pleadings, and is barred by the statute of limitations. (Ruling, p. 5) (App.p.55). (Vol I, p. 44) (App. p.247)

On September 9, 2011, Glaser executed a Warranty Deed for his one-half interest in the Jackson County Farm to Judy Shreve ["Shreve"] which was recorded as Document No. 11-3494. (Exhibit 8). (App. p.186-187) Kindsfather objected to this document on the grounds that said document is not relevant or material and it is beyond the pleadings, and is barred by the statute of limitations. (Ruling, p. 6). (App. p. 56) (Vol I, p. 171) (App. p.261)

On February 7, 2012, the Iowa Department of Revenue recorded a Notice of Tax Lien against Frances O. Glaser as Document No. 12-520. The balance on the tax lien was the amount of \$22,324.38 and was for tax years 2001, 2002 and 2004. (Exhibit 15). (App. pp. 211)

On September 7, 2012, Shreve executed a Warranty Deed to the Jackson County Farm to Kindsfather which was recorded on September 19, 2012, as Document No. 12-3968. (Exhibit 9). (App. pp. 188-190)

Kindsfather objected to this document on the grounds that said document is not relevant or material and it is beyond the pleadings, and is barred by the statute of limitations. (Vol I, p. 181)(Ruling, p.6) (App. p.56)

On September 7, 2012, the Internal Revenue Service recorded its

Notice of Federal Tax Lien against Glaser as Document No. 12-3750. The

tax lien was for assessments in the amount of \$88,581.48 for tax years 2005,

2006, 2007, 2008 and 2009. Report of Title (Exhibit A). (App. pp.89-90)

Kindsfather objected because this federal tax lien is not relevant or material

to the issues in this lawsuit and the United States of America, Internal

Revenue Service is not a party to this lawsuit. (Ruling, p.6) (App. p.56)

On November 19, 2012, Glaser executed a Quit Claim Deed to Kindsfather to Lot 11 in Hillside Addition, Maquoketa, Iowa which was

recorded on December 28, 2012, as Instrument No. 12-5543. (Exhibit 11). (App. pp.200-205)

On November 19, 2012, Glaser executed a Quit Claim Deed to Kindsfather to Lot 12 in Hillside Addition, Maquoketa, Iowa which was recorded on December 28, 2012, as Instrument No. 12-5544. (Exhibit N). (App. p.101-102)

On November 19, 2012, Frances Glaser executed a Quit Claim Deed to Kindsfather to Lot 13 in Hillside Addition, Maquoketa, Iowa which was recorded on December 28, 2012, as Instrument No. 12-5545. (Exhibit O). (App. p.103-104)

On February 28, 2013 Johnny Shreve, Judy Shreve's husband, executed a Quit Claim Deed to Kindsfather for the Jackson County farm which was recorded on March 7, 2013 as Instrument No. 13-966. (Exhibit 13) (App. p.209-210) *Kindsfather objected to this document on the grounds that said document is not relevant or material and it is beyond the pleadings, and is barred by the statute of limitations. (Ruling, p. 6).* (Vol I, p. 169) (App. p.260)

On November 1, 2016 Kindsfather and her husband, Randall, recorded a *Plat of Homestead* as Document No. 16-4010 stating their claim to a homestead exemption under Iowa Code section 561.16 for their home

located on Lot 12 and addressed at 612 Country Club Drive, Maquoketa, Iowa. (Exhibit D) (App. pp.98-99) (Tr.p. Vol. II, p. 46). (App. p.278)

Kindsfather moved into the house located on Lot 12 in February, 2009 and she has lived in and occupied said house as her home continuously from February, 2009 until the present. (Tr.p. Vol. II, p. 66 and p.91). (App. p.280 and p.289)

Kindsfather married Jason Randall ["Randall"] on November 20, 2012. They have lived together on Lot 12 as their homestead since the date of their marriage to the present. (Claimants Exhibit KK)(App.p.114) (Tr.p. Vol. II, p. 38, p. 40 and p. 65). (App. p.274 and p.279)

Kindsfather and Randall have occupied the two adjacent Lots 11 and 13 as part of their homestead after Glaser transferred the properties to Kindsfather on December 28, 2012. (Tr.p. Vol. II, p. 88-89). (App. p.286-287)

ARGUMENT

I. The trial court erred when it set aside the Warranty Deed for the Jackson County farm from Glaser to Shreve [Exhibit 8] because Shreve was an indispensable party to the issue of whether the Warranty Deed could be set aside due to Glaser's fraud on creditors and Shreve's rights under the recorded Warranty Deed from Glaser could not be determined by the trial court adversely to her when she was not a party to the lawsuit.

A. Scope and Standards of Review.

The Administrator's Motion to Set Aside Conveyance and Include
Transferred Property in Estate Inventory ["Administrator's Motion"] was an
equitable action under Iowa Code section 633.33 and 633.368.

The appellate court's review is *de novo*. Iowa R. App. P. 6.4.

B. Preservation of Err.

Kindsfather preserved the issue of Shreve being an *indispensable* party to an action involving the transfer of the farm from Glaser to Shreve in her pretrial Motion in Limine filed April 5, 2018 (Motion in Limine pp. 2-3)(App.p.40-41) and in her post-trial Closing Argument filed June 1, 2018, Argument III, pp. 13-20.

The defect of an indispensable party in an equitable action who is indispensable to the final adjudication of the rights of the parties is

jurisdictional and can be raised for the first time on an appeal. See, Tod v. Crisman, 123 Iowa 693, 699, 99 N.W. 686, (Iowa 1904).

Shreve did not become an indispensable party until the Administrator sought to add the claim to the recovery of the farm to the case against Kindsfather. The Administrator sought to avoid adding Shreve as a party to the case because any claim that Glaser had fraudulently conveyed title to her was barred by the statute of limitations.

C. Shreve, as the *first transferee* of the farm, was an indispensable party to the Administrator's action seeking to set aside the Warranty Deed [Exhibit 8] from Glaser transferring his interest in the Jackson County farm to her and the trial court could not set aside said Warranty Deed to Shreve when Shreve was not a party to the Administrator's lawsuit.

Judy Shreve, as *first transferee* of the farm, was an indispensable party under I.R.Civ.P. 1.234(2) to any action involving title to the one-half interest in the farm because her interest in the property would be "necessarily ... inequitably affected by a judgment rendered between those before the court." See, *Sear v. Clayton County Zoning Bd. of Adjustment*, 590 N.W. 2d 512, 517 (Iowa 1999) and *Wright v. Standard Oil Co.*, 234 Iowa 1241, 15 N.W. 275, 276 (Iowa, 1944)

I.R.Civ.P. 1.234(3) provides that: "If an indispensable party is not before the court, it shall order the party brought in."

The trial court avoided this issue when it erroneously ruled that "It appears Shreve never really had an interest in the farm, except on paper, as Kindsfather testified Shreve was merely holding it for the benefit of Kindsfather." (Ruling, p. 15). (App. p.65).

Kindsfather disputed that she had control over this transaction between Glaser and Shreve. Kindsfather's testified at trial that she had nothing to do with the transfer from Glaser to Shreve and that Glaser was free to do whatever he wanted to do with the farm. (Tr.p. Vol. II, pp. 5-8). (App.p.264-267) Kindsfather further testified that this transaction was between Glaser and Judy Shreve and that she had no control over it. (Tr.p. Vol. II, p. 13). (App. p.268)

However, the trial court missed the real issue here which was whether this case could proceed to a judgment voiding first the Warranty Deed from Glaser to Shreve and subsequently voiding the Warranty Deed from Shreve to Kindsfather. The Warranty Deed to Shreve, once recorded, could not be voided without Shreve being a party to the lawsuit. The Warranty Deed from Shreve to Kindsfather could not be voided if Shreve's Warranty Deed remained valid.

The trial court concluded that "Shreve was not and is not an indispensable party in connection with these matters. (Ruling, p. 15). (App. p.65). The trial court ignored that the Warranty Deed to Shreve had been recorded at the Jackson County Recorder's Office. (Exhibit 8)(App.p.186-187).

The Iowa Supreme Court held that when a decedent had previously conveyed land to his son, who was not a party to the proceedings contesting the title, the son was not bound by the court proceedings and that the Administrator was not in a position to challenge the recorded Deed from the decedent to the son. *Corbin v. McAllister (In re Brigham's Estate,* 144 Iowa 71, 81, 120 N.W. 1054, 1058 (Iowa 1909).

Shreve's rights to the farm after the Warranty Deed [Exhibit 8] from Glaser to her was recorded could not be impaired in this action solely against Kindsfather when Shreve was not a party.

The trial court should have ordered the Administrator to amend her pleadings prior to trial to add Shreve as an indispensable party. See, *Gunner v. Town of Montezuma*, 228 Iowa 581, 293 N.W. 1, 4 (Iowa 1940) and *Smith v. Piper*, 118 Iowa 363, 365, 92 N.W. 56, 56 (1902). Failure to do so is fatal

to the Administrator's judgment voiding the Warranty Deed to Shreve and the subsequent Warranty Deed from Shreve to Kindsfather.

D. The trial court abused its discretion when it incorrectly granted the Administrator's Motion to Amend to add a claim to set aside the farm because the proffered amendment did not request the court to add Judy Shreve as an indispensable party to the claim seeking to set aside the deed transferring the farm to her.

The grantor of a general warranty deed promises to defend all claims. The covenant of warranty in a general warranty deed "constitutes an agreement by the grantor that upon the failure of the title which the deed purports to convey, either for the whole estate or part only, the grantor will pay compensation for the resulting loss." *Kendall v. Lowther*, 356 N.W. 2d 181, 189-90 (Iowa 1984).

The court order voiding Glaser's Warranty Deed to Shreve breaches warranties of title that Shreve made in her subsequent Warranty Deed to Kindsfather filed September 19, 2012 as Document No. 12-3968. (Exhibit 9). (App. pp. 188-190)

Shreve was prejudiced by the trial court's ruling allowing the amendment. Shreve was not given the opportunity to defend the warranties in her Warranty Deed to Kindsfather and granting the Administrator's Motion to Amend *circumvented* the requirement that Shreve be named and

served as an indispensable party to the action to set aside the Warranty Deed for the farm from Glaser to her. The trial court's action in setting aside the Warranty Deed to Shreve effectively voids her subsequent Warranty Deed to Kindsfather. (Exhibit 9). (App. pp.188-190).

The trial court's failure to add Shreve as an indispensable party results in its subsequent ruling voiding of the Warranty Deed from Shreve to Kindsfather being in err. The Warranty Deed from Shreve to Kindsfather cannot be found void if the Warranty Deed from Glaser to Shreve has not previously been set aside.

II. The trial court erred when it failed to rule that the Administrator was barred by the "Doctrine of Clean Hands" from obtaining a court order voiding the Warranty Deeds Glaser to Shreve and from Shreve to Kindsfather.

A. Scope and Standards of Review.

The Administrator's Motion was an equitable action under Iowa Code section 633.33 and 633.368. The Appellate court's review of this issue is *de novo*. Iowa R. App. P. 6.4.

In equity cases, especially when considering the credibility of witnesses, the appellate court gives weight to the findings of the district court, but is not bound by them. Iowa R. App. P. 6.14(6)(g). See, *Coyle v. Kujacznski*, 759 N.W.2d 657, 658 (Iowa App., 2008).

B. Preservation of Error.

Kindsfather raised the issue of equitable relief for appellate review in her Response and Resistance to Administrator's Motion in which she requested general equitable relief from the court. (Response and Resistance, p. 6). (App. p.31) See, *Meyers v, Smith*, 208 N.W. 2d. 919, 922-923 (Iowa. 1973).

Kindsfather further preserved the issue of the Administrator being barred from obtaining an order voiding Glaser's deeds to Shreve and Kindsfather by raising the Doctrine of Clean Hands in her Final Argument filed June 1, 2018. (Closing Argument I, pp. 2-7) and in her I.R.Civ.P. 1.904(2) Motion, Argument I, p.2 (App. p.75)

"The clean hands maxim need not be pleaded; the district court may apply the maxim on its own motion." *Opperman v. M. & I. DEHY, INC.*, 644 N.W.2d 1, 6 (Iowa, 2002) and *Myers v. Smith*, 208 N.W. 2d 919, 921 (Iowa, 1973), and *Sisson v. Janssen*, 244 Iowa 123, 5 N.W. 2d 30,35 (952).

C. The trial court erred when it entered an order voiding the Deeds transferring real estate to Kindsfather and Shreve because the Administrator's claim to these properties is barred by the Doctrine of Clean Hands.

In the case of *Shaw v. Addison*, 239 Iowa 377, 28 N.W.2d 816, 827 (Iowa, 1947), the Iowa Supreme Court held that the *Administrator was*

barred by the equitable doctrine of "Clean Hands" from recovering for the benefit of the decedent's heirs the real estate fraudulently transferred by the decedent to avoid paying Iowa income taxes.

The Iowa Supreme Court stated:

It is the general rule that, when a conveyance is made solely to prevent a creditor of the grantor from collecting the amount of a judgment that might be recovered against him, a court of equity will not grant relief from such fraudulent conduct, on behalf of either the grantor, or his heirs or assigns. [citations omitted]

Shaw v. Addison, 28 N.W.2d at 827.

In Sisson v. Janssen, 244 Iowa 123, 56 N.W.2d 30, 35 (Iowa, 1952), the Iowa Supreme Court stated:

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