IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA Supreme Court No. 19-0008

IN THE MATTER OF THE ESTATE OF FRANCIS O. GLASER

Administrator Judy E. Bowling, Movant-Appellee,

JOINED BY IOWA DEPARTMENT OF REVENUE, Creditor – Appellee

v.

SHERRY M. KINDSFATHER, Interested Party-Appellant.

APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT FOR JACKSON COUNTY THE HONORABLE SEAN W. McPARTLAND, JUDGE

BRIEF OF APPELLEE AND REQUEST FOR ORAL ARGUMENT

DAVID PILLERS AT00015933 <u>dpillers@pillerslaw.com</u> ATTORNEY FOR THE ESTATE

THOMAS J. MILLER ATTORNEY GENERAL LAURIE HERON McCOWN AT00011486 Assistant Attorney General Laurie.mccown@ag.iowa.gov ATTORNEY FOR CREDITOR

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

This is not the case here. The Department requested the Administrator file the claim under her statutory authority in order to preserve its rights as a creditor. The Administrator complied with the request to fulfill her responsibility as Administrator. There is no evidence to the contrary in the record.

Cases decided prior and subsequent to *Shaw* also bring Kindsfather's interpretation of *Shaw* into question. "In Iowa, it is well established that an administrator may bring an action to challenge a conveyance or transfer as being fraudulent as to creditors. *Am. Sur. Co. of New York v. Edwards & Bradford Lumber Co.*, 57 F. Supp. 18, 29 (N.D. Iowa 1944) (citing Iowa Supreme Court cases from 1933, 1901, 1870, and 1875); *Carson v. Rothfolk*, 838 N.W.2d 868 (Iowa Ct. App. 2013) (considering a claim of fraudulent conveyance brought by the executor of his father's estate).

C. Principles of equity overwhelmingly favor Glaser's defrauded creditors over his co-conspirator.

The record is replete with evidence that Kindsfather conspired with Glaser to defeat the interests of his creditors. "In manner, demeanor and substance, the Court found Kindsfather's testimony about all the transactions and financial matters to be selective in detail, mostly vague and not to be credible." Dist. Ct. Order at 10 (App. at 60). The Supreme Court has noted that while it is not bound by the district court's findings of fact, it does give weight to them, and it is "especially deferential to the district court's assessment of witness credibility." *Perkins v. Madison Cty. Livestock & Fair Ass'n*, 613 N.W.2d 264, 267 (Iowa 2000).

The district court recounted in some detail the involvement Kindsfather had with the fraudulent transactions executed by Glaser designed to avoid creditors. Perhaps most egregiously, she accepted mortgages to assist Glaser in evading his creditors, falsely claiming that she had completed hundreds of thousands of dollars of work to justify the acceptance of these mortgages. *See* Dist. Ct. Order at 5 (App. at 55). Yet, she "provided no details or documentation of the extent of her work, how many hours on average per week she dedicated to the work, any particular sales or amounts of sales or any other details with respect to such transactions." *Id.* at 9 (App. at 59).

The clean hands doctrine specifically exists to allow the Court to avoid being used by a litigant to "take advantage of his or her own wrong or claim the benefit of his or her own fraud or that of his or her privies." *Opperman v. M&I Dehy, Inc.*, 644 N.W.2d at 6.

The principles of equity charge this Court, within the bounds of statute, to avoid rewarding "unconscionable conduct." See Meyers v. Smith, 208 N.W.2d 919, 921 (Iowa 1973). The clean hands doctrine is ordinarily invoked "to protect the integrity of the court where granting affirmative equitable relief would run contrary to public policy or lend the court's aid to fraudulent, illegal or unconscionable conduct." *Id.* It is ironic, then, that Kindsfather is requesting the Court apply the doctrine to benefit her to the detriment of the decedent's creditors in a situation where the trial court found her to be complicit in assisting the decedent to defraud his creditors. An additional equity doctrine, the "maxim that he who seeks equity must do equity" holds that "a person cannot expect a court of equity to enforce an agreement made with the intent that it shall operate as a

fraud on the private rights and interests of third persons or the public generally." *Id*.

Fraudulent transfer law has always operated based on equitable principals that serve to protect creditors from debtors who attempt to hinder the rights of those creditors. *See Textron Fin. Corp. v. Kruger*, 545 N.W.2d 880, 883 (Iowa Ct. App. 1996) ("The [fraudulent conveyance] doctrine is built upon the principal that a debtor's property constitutes a fund from which debts should be paid and the debtor may not hinder a creditor's right to proceed against the fund. A debtor who disposes of property with the intent to defraud creditors exceeds legitimate authority. The transaction will be set aside as inequitable.")

The grantee also bears responsibility for ensuring that the transfer is not fraudulent. A transfer made without consideration and under suspicious circumstances triggers the requirement that the grantee should inquire into the possibility of fraud. *McNally v. Emmetsburg Nat. Bank*, 192 N.W. 925, 927–28 (Iowa 1923). Even if Kindsfather did not know explicitly that Glaser was transferring property to her to defraud his creditors—a questionable proposition

given the evidence supporting her complicity—she had a duty to inquire. Even a cursory review of the public records of the properties he transferred to her would make it clear that he was executing deeds to her to avoid creditors. *Compare* Report of Title (App. at 119) (State tax lien against Glaser's property, dated January 7, 2008) to Exhibit 3 (App. at 156) (Warranty Deed conveying Lot 12, 812 Country Club Drive from Glaser to Kindsfather, dated January 8, 2008).

The district court found Kindsfather was complicit in Glaser's attempts to defraud his creditors. *See* Dist. Ct. Order at 21 (App. at 71) ("The Court also finds and concludes that, through her testimony and demeanor, Kindsfather was aware of Glaser's activities and intent or acted in willful disregard of such activities and intent.") The district court also found that parties with undisputedly clean hands—the creditors of the estate—would be prejudiced if the transfers stand. *See id.* at 20 (App. at 70) ("Most of the Estate's creditors, including the Iowa Department of Revenue, will not be paid if the property that was fraudulently conveyed is not returned to the Estate for proper distribution.").

Principles of equity and protection of the public do not require Kindsfather's fraudulent behavior to be rewarded. On the contrary, the principles of equity—including the clean hands doctrine—require this Court to affirm the ruling of the district court and provide relief to the creditors fraudulently deprived of property.

III. The District Court did not abuse its discretion when it granted the Administrator's oral motion to include the Farm in its motion.

Kindsfather raises five separately-numbered claims of error regarding the question of whether the district court erred by considering the question of the fraudulent conveyances of the Jackson County Farm. The Administrator and the Department consolidate these here under headings III and IV. It is critical to note, though, that Kindsfather must prove the district court erred *both* by determining that the Administrator's original pleading encompassed the farm *and* by allowing the Administrator's oral motion to amend. Under either scenario, the district court had authority to adjudicate the Administrator's claim as to the Farm and to void all conveyances related to the Farm. The other claims of error are merely consequences of the trial court's determinations on these two issues.

A. Scope and Standard of Review

Kindsfather correctly notes that the standard of review on a motion for leave to amend is abuse of discretion. However, Kindsfather neglects to specify what an extremely difficult bar this standard of review is for an appellant to clear.

We afford district courts considerable discretion in ruling on motions for leave to amend pleadings. Consequently, we will reverse only if the record indicates the court clearly abused its discretion. We will find an abuse of discretion when the court bases its decision on clearly untenable grounds or to an extent clearly unreasonable.

Rife v. D.T. Corner, Inc., 641 N.W.2d 761, 766 (Iowa 2002). The Iowa

Court of Appeals has also emphasized that, "The trial court will be

reversed only when there is a clear abuse of discretion." Grace

Hodgson Tr. V. McClannahan, 569 N.W.2d 397, 399 (Iowa Ct. App.

1997).

B. Preservation of Error.

The Administrator and the Department of Revenue agree that this issue was preserved for review.

C. Analysis

From the time the Administrator filed her motion asking the district court to void fraudulent transfers, all parties knew what was

at issue—Glaser and Kindsfather's joint scheme to transfer Glaser's real estate to defraud Glaser's creditors. While the Administrator's initial pleading listed some, but not all, of the transactions that constituted this fraudulent scheme, the extent of the fraudulent conveyances was made clear through discovery and came as no surprise to any of the parties. The district court found that "through the motion to set aside conveyances, through her knowledge of the conveyances, and through questioning in her deposition," Kindsfather was on clear notice that the claim involved *all* of the fraudulent conveyances, including the fraudulent conveyance of the property known as the Jackson County farm. Dist. Ct. Order at 13 (App. at 63). Though not necessary in light of this notice, the district court also granted the Administrator's motion to amend its pleadings consistent with the evidence.

Kindsfather makes two claims of error related to the district court's ruling on the Administrator's leave to amend. First, she simply argues that the trial court abused its discretion. *See* Appellant's Br. at 28 (claim of error designated as V). Secondly, she argues that the trial court abused its discretion when it ruled that the amendment related back to the original pleading. *See id.* at 38 (claim of error designated as VI).

1. The law highly favors allowing amendments.

The purpose of requiring leave of court to amend is simply "to give the other side the right to object to amendments which might affect their preparation for trial." *McClannahan*, 569 N.W.2d at 399. Allowing amendments is highly encouraged and denying permission to amend is discouraged, as the standard is to allow amendments when "justice so requires." *Id*.

The Supreme Court has adopted such an expansive view of when amendments should be allowed that it has said that an amendment may be allowed "at any time before a decision is rendered, even after the close of presentation of the evidence." *Rife*, 641 N.W.2d at 767. Generally, the amendment should "not substantially change the issues or defense of the case," but "[e]ven an amendment that substantially changes the issues may still be allowed if the opposing party is not prejudiced or unfairly surprised." *Id.* Allowing the amendment to address the Jackson County Farm neither impacted Kindsfather's trial preparation nor caused her unfair surprise.

2. The Administrator's allegation that the Jackson County Farm was fraudulently conveyed was not a surprise, nor did it prevent Kindsfather from being adequately prepared for trial.

On April 5, 2018, Kindsfather filed a motion in limine, with supporting memorandum, asking the district court to forbid the Administrator and Department from presenting evidence regarding the Jackson County Farm. This was six weeks before the date of the hearing and confirms that Kindsfather had ample notice of the claim to adequately prepare. The district court also made detailed findings of fact regarding the Administrator's initial motion, finding that it was detailed enough to make Kindsfather aware of the Administrator's fraudulent transfer claim involving the Jackson County Farm on June 28, 2016. In addition, Kindsfather was on notice due to the extensive questioning regarding the farm at her deposition more than a year prior to trial. See Dist. Ct. Order at 13 (App. at 63). Finally, as Kindsfather was intimately involved with the fraudulent transfers related to the Farm, she knew these transfers were part of Glaser's overall scheme to defraud his creditors.

Kindsfather complains extensively that she did not have the

opportunity to call witnesses or introduce documents related to the transfer of the Farm, but does not explain why she did not have this opportunity. *See* Appellant's Br. at 32. In fact, her own motion filed six weeks before trial shows that she had ample time to prepare any witnesses and documents related to the Farm. The district court denied the motion, determining that evidence related to the Farm would be admissible, *before trial began*. The district court's well-supported findings demonstrate Kindsfather had ample notice that the transfer of the Jackson County Farm would be at issue.

3. The Administrator proved the fraudulent conveyance requirements related to the Jackson County Farm.

Kindsfather alleges that the amendment is not actually supported by the proof offered. *See id.* at 33. Then, she proceeds to ignore the majority of the record and the district court's order in order to support this statement.

Despite Kindsfather's claim that there was no evidence of insolvency in the record, the district court recounted the Administrator's evidence demonstrating that Glaser was insolvent. The district court detailed Glaser's interactions with the Iowa Department of Revenue, concluding that "the Court finds it was clear to Glaser for many years, dating back to at least 2007, that he had tax liabilities and the State was pursuing him for back taxes." Dist. Ct. Order at 4 (App. at 54). Though Kindsfather cites to her own testimony in the record regarding Glaser's financial affairs, in which she speculates about Glaser's pensions and house equity, the district court noted, "Kindsfather testified she knew very little about Glaser's financial arrangements, holdings and debt. The district court found Kindsfather's testimony in connection with such matters to lack credibility in substance and demeanor." *Id.* at 9 (App. at 59). The district court's factual findings as to Glaser's insolvency dating back to 2007 were well-supported by the record.

The Administrator proved that Glaser was "generally not paying [his] debts as they [became] due," the only statutory requirement to establish a presumption of insolvency. *See* Iowa Code § 684.2. Kindsfather's unreliable, inconsistent, and vague testimony is not sufficient to overcome this presumption of insolvency, as the district court correctly concluded. Specifically, Kindsfather never introduced competent evidence as to Glaser's assets, expenses, income, or liabilities.

43

The Administrator proved, and the district court found, that

there was substantial proof of fraud when Glaser transferred the farm

to Shreve.

Kindsfather testified that it was Glaser's intent that his interest in the farm eventually go to Kindsfather, but Glaser and Kindsfather were concerned that a creditor would attach a lien to the property if it went directly to Kindsfather, because of a foreclosure on a restaurant in which Kindsfather then had an ownership interest. *See* Exhibit 21, Kindsfather deposition, p. 80, lines 6-25, p. 82, lines 22-25. Kindsfather did not offer any explanation why Glaser could not hold title to the property in his own name until Kindsfather was ready and able to take title in her name. From the evidence it seems clear, and the Court finds and concludes, that Glaser's intention was to shield the asset from *his* creditors, and that conveyance to Shreve also served to shield the asset from Kindsfather's creditors.

Dist. Ct. Order at 14 (App. at 64).

4. The district court correctly applied the relation-back doctrine, which confirmed that the Administrator successfully filed her petition within the applicable statute of limitations.

Kindsfather attempts to make much of the district court's

inadvertent pluralization of the word "occurrence" in citing Iowa Rule

of Civil Procedure 1.402(5) to argue that the district court erred in

allowing the Administrator's oral motion. See Appellant's Br. at 40.

She then argues in a separate claim of error (VII) that the district

court abused its discretion when it allowed the Administrator to

amend her pleadings "when the claim to void the deed to the farm was barred by the statute of limitations."

Kindsfather addresses the question of whether the Administrator had constructive notice of the fraudulent transfer in some detail, but does so unnecessarily. Neither the Administrator nor the Department have alleged that the "discovery rule" should apply here, nor did the district court rely on the discovery rule when it applied the relation-back doctrine.

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